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From: H.E. Curiimlns [mailtosk

Sent: Tue 2/20/2007 5:06 PM ) .

Tot Dan Bogden; Pau K, Chariton; David Iglesias; Carol Lam; McKay, John (Law Adjunct)
Subject: on another ricte

Mike Elston from the DAG's office called me today, The call was amiable enough, but
clearly spurred by the Sunday Post article. The essence of his message Wwas that they feel .
like they are taking unnecessary flak to avoid trashing each of us specifically or furtler,
but if they feel like any of us intend to continue to offer quotes to the press, or organize
behind the scenes congressional pressure, then they would feel forced to somehow pull
their gloves off and offer public criticisms to defend their actions more fully. I can't offer
" any specific quotes, but that was clearly the message. I was tempted to challengehim
and sey something movie-like such as “are you threatening ME??7", but instesd I kind of
shirugged it off and said I didn't sense that anyone was intending to perpetuate this. He
mentioned my quote on-Sunday and I didn't apologize for it, told him it was true and that
' evetyone involved should agree with the truth of my statement, and pointed out to him
that I stopped short of calling them liars and merely said that IF they were doing as
alleged they shoiild retract. 1 also made it a point to tell him that all of us have turbed
down multiple invitations to téstify. He reacted quite a bit to the idea of anyone
voluntatily testifying and it seemed clear that they would sec that as a major escalation of
the conflict mieziting some kind of unspecified form of retaliation. ~ -

1 don't personally see this as any big deal and it sounded like the threat of Tetaliation
“atniounts 10 a threat that they would make their recent behind doors senate presentation
public. Ididn't tell him that I had heard about the details in that presentation and found it
to be a pretty weak threat sine evergone that heard it apparently thanght it was weak .

1 don't want to stir you up conflict or overstate the threatening undercurrent fn the call,
but the message was clearly there and you should be aware before you speak to the préss
gain if you choose to do that. T don't fee] like I am betraying him by reporting this to
you because I think that is probably what he wanted me to do. Of course, T would
appreciate maximum opsec regarding this email and ask that you not forward it or let
Gthers read it. )

‘Bud
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: * Elston, Michael (ODAG)

. [ A PM
To: ™~ ‘Julie Elston’ . .
‘Subject: . FW: Cummins email for WEM review -
_,A’ft‘a'chrh_(e‘ﬁt's:. Cummins Email.pdf .
---<-Original Message-----

From:. Wade, Jill C

Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 12:27 BM
To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Subject: Fw Cummins email for WEM review

Pethaps I should have cc'd yog on this email.

Jill C. Wade

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE .
Office of Legislative Affalrs
(202) 514- 3597

--~--0Qriginal Message-----

From: Wade, Jill C

To: Moschella, William; Scott- Flnan, Nancy
CC: Seidel, Rebecca

Sent: Tue Mar 06 11:50:08 2007 .

"Subject: Cummins email for WEM review

.I would not be surprised if this email is raised at WEM hearing today. See attached. (I
‘faxed to catalina just now bc I am on Hill). I will have a summary from this SJC hearlng

on us atty reSLgnatlons asap. Hearing is still 901ng strong.

-J

Jill C. Wade

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Office of Legislative Affalrs
(202) 514-3597

Cumniins Email.pdf
. (57 KB) .
-—-- Original Message-----

From: Cabral, Catalina

To: Wade, Jill C; Scott-Finan, Nancy
Sent: Tue Mar 06 11:30:50 2007
Subject:

<;Cummins Email.pdf>>

Catalina Cabral
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

DAGO00000856



Office of Legislative Affairs
. Catalina.Cabral@UsDOJ.gov
(202) 514-4828
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" From: H.£. Curnmins [mailtos

Sent: Tue 2/202007 5:06 PM - , _
To: Daii Bogden; Paul K. Charlton; David Iglesias; Carol Lam; McKay, John (Law Adenct)
Subject: on anather note S

Mike Elston ftom the DAG's office called me today. The vall was amjable enough, but )
-clearly spurred by the Sunday Post article. The essence of his messagé was that they feel

like they are taking unecessary flak to avoid trashing each of us specifically or firther, -
but if they feel like any of us intend to continué to offer quotes to the press, or organize

 behind the scenes congressional pressure, then they would feel forced to somehow pull
"their gloves off and offér public criticisms to defend their actions mare fiilly. I can't offer

any specific quotes, but that was clearly the message, I was tempied to challenge him
and say something movie-like such as "are you threaténing ME??2", but instead I kind of
shrugged it off end said I didn't sense that anyone was intending to perpetuate this. ‘He
mentioned my.quote on-Sunday and I didn't apologize for it, told him it was true and that
everyone involved should agree with the tmth of my statement, and pointed out to him
that I stopped short of calling them liars and merely said that IF they were doing as

" alleged they should retract. 1 also'nade it a point to tell him that all of us have turned

down multiple invitations to testify. He reacted quite a bit to the idea of anyone-
voluntarily testifying aud it seemed clear that they would see that as a miajor escalation of
the conflict meriting some kind of inspecified form of retaliation. to.

I don't personally see this as any big deal and.it sounded h‘ké the threat of retaliation

"amounts to a threat that they would make their recent behind doots senate ptesentation

public. I didn't tell him that I had heard about the details in that presentation and found it
to be a pretty weak threst <ince gveryone that heard it apparently thonght it was wenk

I don't want to stir you up conflict or overstate the threatening undercurrent in the cail,

"but the message was clearly there and you should be aware before you speak to the press '

again if you choose to do that. Idon't feel like T am betraying him by reporting this to
you because I think thatis probably what he wanted me to do. Of course, [ would

" appreciate maximum opsec regarding this email and ask that you not forward it or let
others read it. ’ ’ .

‘Bud
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: : G Scott-Finan, Nancy )
- sday, March 06, 2007 12:54 PM
To: . s Goodling, Manica; Sampson, Kyle; Moschella,
’ Richard i :
Subject: g FW: US Atty.- ODAG Tstmny
Attachments: : Maschella Testimony.doc

- 5
Moschella
. sstimony.doc (86 KB ' .
" Do we want to accept the changes from OMB?
————— Original Mesgage-----

Willian; Elston, Michael (ODAG); Hertling,

Thanks .

From: Gibbs, Landon M. [mailto:Landon M._Gibbsewho.eop.gov]

Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 11:35 AM -
To: Silas, Adrien

Cc: Green, Richard E.; Simms, Angela M.; Hertling, Richard; Moschella, William; Scott-

- Finan, Nancy; Oprison, Christopher G.
Subject: FW: US Atty - ODAG Tstmny

The "EOP approves the attached version of the testimony.

Thanks B

Landon' Gibbs . .
. Deputy Associate Director .

Office of Counsel to the President
(202) 456-5214
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Testimony
of

William E. Moschella
Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General
‘ U.S. Department of Justice

‘Committee on the Judiciary
United States House of Representatives

“HR. 580, Restormg Checks and Balances in the Nomination Process of U.S.
Attorneys”

March 6, 2007

Chairwoman Sanchez, Congressman Cannon, and members of the
Subcommlttee thank you for the invitation to dlscuss the nnportance of the

Justice Department’s United States Attorneys.

Although - as previously noted by the Attorney General and the Deputy
AAftqmey General in their testimon}.', the Department of Justice continues to
: be:lieve the Attorney émer’al ’s current interim appointment authority is good
policy, and has concerns about H.R. 580, the “Preserving United States Attomeys
Independence Act 0f2007," the Department looks forward to working with the

Committee in an effort to reach common ground on this nnportant issue._It should

be made clear, however, that despite the speculation, it was never the objective of
“the Department, when exercising this interim appointment authority, to

‘circumvent the Senate confirmation process.
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Some ba.cl(gml_md. As ﬁle chief federal law-enforcement officers in their districts, our 93
U.S. Attorneys represent the Attorney General and the Department of Justice throughout the
United States. U.S. Attome&s are not just prosecutors; the); are government ofﬁcijals ch.arged :
with managing and implemcntiqg the policies and priorities of the President and the Attorney
- General. The Attorney General has set forth key priorities for the Department of Justice, and in
each of theh: districts, U.S. Attorneys lead the D;partment's efi'orts to protéct America from
te'r;oﬁst attacks and fight violent crime, combat illegal drug trafficking, ensure the iptegrity of
éovcmment and the ma.'pketplace, enforce our immigx#tion laws, and Iz;rosecutc crimes that

" endanger children and families—including child pornography, obscenity, and human trafficking.

United States Attomeys serve ‘at the pleasure of the Pres:dent and report to the Attorney
Genera] in the dlscharge of their offices. Like any other hlgh-mnkmg officials in the Executive
' Branch, the_y may be.removed for any reason or no reason. The Department of Justice—including
the office of United States Attorney—was created precisely so.ﬂ;at the government’s legal
business ;;;)uld be }sﬂ'écﬁvqu managed émd carried out through a coheten; prograni under the
" supervision of the Attorney General. . Unlike judges, who aré supposed to act independen‘tly of

those who nominate them, U.S. Attomeys are accountable to the Attorney General..And while

US. Attdmeys_are chal;ged with making D rosecutoﬁal decisions, they are also duty bound to.
implement and further the Administration’s and Department’s priorities and golxcy dectswns
Prosecutona] authority should be exercised by the Executlve Branchina umﬁ.ed manner,
consistent with the application of criminal enforcement policy under the Attorney General. Iri no

-2-
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, context is accountability more important to ot society than on the front lines of law. enforcement

and the exercise of grosecutonal dlscretton Thus, United States Attorneys are, and should be,

accounmble to the Attorney General

. ) S .--{ Formatted: Indent: First line: 0" j
The Attomey General and the Deputy Attorney General are responsible for evaluating the -

performance of the United States Attorneys and ensuring that they are leading their pﬁices

[ Deleted: I should come 5 1o surprise ]
effectxvcly dn an organization as large as the Justice Department, U.S, Attorneys are removed or -~ L““”": sty ]
~*-{ Deleted: 1

asked or encouraged to reSIgn ﬁ:om time to time. However, in t}ns Admmlstratlon U.sS.

_"Attorneys are never—repeat, never—removed, or asked or encouraged to resign, in an effort to

retaliate against them, or interfere with, or inappropriately influence a particular investigation,
: -} Deleted: Any suggestion to the contrary
S . LI o~ unded, and it
criminal prosecution, or civil case. | ) . _ | T m:"mum‘}:iw
: . the Department has eammed over many
years and on.which it depends.§ .

Turpi.wer in the p;)sition of U.S. Attorney fs not uncommon and should be expectéd,
pam'cqlarly after a U.S. Attomney’s ﬁ.)l.xinyear tém_h'as expired. When a presidential election
1.'esu.1ts in a change of administration, every U.S. Attor_ney is asked to resign so the new Presidex;f
cén nominate a successor for conﬂlmation' by the Senate. M‘br.eover U S. Attorneys do not

necessanly stay in place even during an administration. For example, approximately half [is this

right? - I think it was onlz about 35] of the U.S. Attomeys appointed at the beginning of the

_ Bush Administration had left office by the end of 2006. Of the U.S. Attorneys whose

restgnatlons have been the subject of recent discussion, each one had served longer than four

years prior to being asked to res1gn
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Given the reality of turnover among the U.S. Attorneys, our system depends on the

articulate new priorities or emphasize different types of cases, the effect of a U.S, Attorney on an

,( Delgted: and thatis . j ‘

ongoing investigation or prosecution is, in fact, minimal, as it should be. The career civil

servants who prosedute federal criminal cases are dedicated professionals and an effective U.S..

" Attorney relies on the professional judgment of those prosecutofs.

The leadership of an office is more tjxén the direction of individual éases, It involves

managing limited resources, maintaining high morale in thé office, and vbuilding relationships

" with ﬂ;detal', state and local law enforcement partnéts, When a U.S. Attorney submits his or her
resignation, the Department rﬁust first determine who yvi]l serve temporarily as interim U.S.
Attorney. The Department has a.n obligation to ensure that somieone is able to carry. out the
important function of leading a U.S. Attorney’s Office during the period when there is not a
pfesidenﬁally:appointed, Senate-confirmed U.S. Attorney. Often, the i)epaxtment looks to the
f‘irst Assistant U.S. Attorney or anottiet senior manager in the office to serve as U.S. Attorney on
an interim.basi_s. When neither the First Assistant nor another senior mz;nager in‘ the office is

. able or willing to serve as interim U.S. Attorney, or when the appointment of either would not be
appropriate in the circumstances, the Department has looked to o_thc.r; qualified Department -
emplc;yees. For example; in the District of Minnesota and the Northern District of Iowa, the First
Assistant took fe&eral retiljement at or near the same time that the U.S. Attorney resigned, which

required the Department to select another official to lead the office.
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. Deteted: tno time, however, has

——the Senate by appointing awinterinr U.S. Attomey and tren refusing to move forward—in

consultation with home-state Senators—on the selection, nomination, confirmation and

,,( Deleted: Not once.

single

appointment of a new U.S. Attorney. Jn every case where a vacancy occurs, the Administratipn

is committed to having a Senate-confirmed U.S. Attomey. . And the Administration’s actions bear

this out. In each instance,  the President cither has made a nomination, or the Administration is

working to select candidates for nomination. The appointment of U.S. Attorneys by and with the

-advice and consent of the Senate is unquestionably the appointthent method preferred by the

Senate, and it is unquestionably the appointment method preferred by the Administration.

Since January 20, 2001, 124 new U.S. Attorneys have been nominated by the President

and confirmed by the Senate. On Mgrch 9, 2006, the Congress amended the'Attomey General's

authority to appoint interim U.S. Attorneys, and 18 vacancies have océurred since that date. This

-amendment has not changed our commitment to nominating candidates for Senate confirmation.

In fact, the Administration has nominated a total of 16 individuals for Senate consideration since

the appoiﬁ(ment authority was arﬁended, with 12 of those nominees having been confirmed to

date. Of the 18 vacancies that have occurred since the time that the law was amended, the

Administration has nominatgd_candidates tovﬁll six of these onsiﬁons, has interviewed candidates

for nomination for eight more positions, and is waiting to receive names to set up interviews for

the remaining positions—all in consultation with home-state Senators.

J
_J

.| Deleted: Every time 2 vacancy has
" | arisen, .

)

DAGO00000865



However, while that nomination process continues, the Department must have a leader in

i y : 0 ensure confinuity of operations. Jo .~

ensure an effective and sméoth transition during U.S. Attorney vacancies, the office of the U.S.

Deleted: Under the VRA, the First
/f Assistant may serve in an acting capacity
7| for quly 210 days, ualess 2 nomination is
/| made during that period. Under an
! Attomey, General appointment, the interim
/| US. Attorney serves until a nomince is
’ . i . . /| confirmed the Senate. There is no other
U.S.C. §3345(a)(1), when the First Assistant is selected to lead the office, or the Attorney § | statatory authority for filling such’a .
B ) . J ‘vacancy, and thus the use of the Attoruey
i General's appointment authority, as

A-tton;ey miust be filled on an interim basis, either under the Vacancy Reform Act (“VRA™), 5 :

amended last year, signals nothing other
than-a decision to have an interim U.S.
Attorney who is not the First Assistant. Tt
does not indicate an intention to avoid the
confirmation process, as some have
suggested. - -
Deleted: 1. .
HR. 580 would supersede last year's
amendment to 28 U.S.C. § 546 that
authorized the Attomney General to appoint
an interim U.S. Attorney to serve until a
person fills the position by being
d by the Senate and appointed by
the President. Last year's amendment was
intended to ensure continuity of operations
in the event of 2 U.S. Attorney vacancy
that lasts longer than expected. §
Formatted: Indent: First fine: 0° )

 Committee's questions.
) ) . o [ Deleted: Prior to last year's amendment,
: : the Attorney General could appointan
’ interim U.S. Attomey for the first 120
days after a vacancy arose; thereafter, the
district court was authorized to appoint an
interim U.S. Attofmey. In cases in which a
Senate-confirmed U.S. Attarney could not
be appointed within 120 days, the
“limitation on the Attorney General's
appointment autharity resulted in .
recurring problems. Some district courts
recoghized the conflicts inherent in the
appointment of an interim U.S. Atforney
who would then have matters before the
court—not to mention the oddity of one
branch of government appointing officers
of another—and simply refused to exercise
the appointment authority. In those cases,
the Attorney General was consequently
requiréd to make multiple, successive
120-day interim appointments. Other
district courts ignored the inherent
conflicts and sought to appoint as interim
U.S. Attomeys wholly unacceptable
candidates who lacked the required

or

'_Génera]’s appointment authority in 28 U.S.C. § 546 when another Department employee is

chosen.

effectively will be the focus of the Department’s efforts to reach common ground with the

' Congress on this issue.

,Thﬁnk you again for the opportunity to testify, and I look forward to answering the

1)

1 .
Two examiples demonstrate the
shortcomings of the previous system.
During President Reagan's
Administration, the district court (7777

DAG000000866



Prior to last year's amendment, the Attorney General could appoint an interim

- US. Attorney for the first 120 days aﬁer a vacancy arose; fherea'ﬁer the district court was

| authonzed to appoint an interim U. S Attomey In cases in whlch a Senate-confirmed
U S. Attorney could not be appomted within 120 days the limitation on the Attorney
General’s appointmient authority resulted in tecurring problems. Some district courts

" reco gmzed the conﬂlcts mherent in the appomtment of an mtenm U.S. Attorney who

would then have matters before the court—not to mentlon the oddlty of one branch of

- _gorternment appointing officers of another—and simply refused to exercise the -

" appointment authority. In ihbée cases, the Attorney General wae consequently required to
make multiple, success1ve 120- day interim appomtments Other district courts ignored
the inherent conflicts and sought to appoint as mtenm U. S Attorneys wholly

unacceptable candidates who lacked the required clearances or appropriate qualifications.

Two examples demonstrate the shoﬂeomings of the previous system. Durh_lg
President Reagan’s Adminiétration, the district court gpf)ointed in the Southern District ef A
‘West Virginia an interim U.S. Attorney who was neither a J ustic‘e Department employee.
-or an individual who had been subject to a FBI background review. The court-appointed
U.S. Attorney, who had ties to a political party, sought access to law-enforcement
sensitive investigative materials related to the office’s most sensitive public corruption
" - investigation, which was targetiné a state-wide leader of the same party. The problem

was that the interim U.S. Attorney had no clearances and had not un’dergone a
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background investigation so that the Attomey General and the Federal Bureau of

Investigatioe could have complete cdﬁﬁdence in the individual ef his feaisons for making
- inquiries into the case. The appointment f'o.rced the Department to remove the case files
from the U.S. Attorney’s Office in order to pfotect the inteéxity of the investigation and .
prohibit the U.S. Attofriey from making any additional inquiries into the ease. To resoive
the problem, the Deparlment expedlted a nomination for the permanent U.S. Attorney
and, with the extraordinary assistance of the Senate he was confirmed to replace the

‘court-appointed individual within a few weeks.

In a second case, occumng in 2005, the district court attempted to appoint an
md1v1dua1 Who 51m11ar1y was not a Department of Justice or federal employee and had
never undergone the appropriate background check. Asa result, this individual would not
have eeen permitted access to classified infermation and would.not have .been able to
receive information from his district’s antl-terronsm coordmator its Joint Terronsm Task
Force, or 1ts Field Intelhgence Group. In a post 9/11 world, this situation was
unacceptable. This problem was only resolved when the President recess—appomted a
career federal prosecutor to serve as U.S. Attorney until a candldate could be nominated

and conﬁrme'd.

Notwithstanding these two notorious instances, the district courts in most
instances have simply appointed the Attorney General's choice as interim U.S. Attorney,
revehling the fact that most judges have recognized the importance of appointing an

interim U.S. Attorney who enjoys the confidence of the Attomey General. In other
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words, the most importé.n‘t factor in the selection of nmﬁmmﬁpnoinfed interim U.S

Attorneys was the Attorney General's recommendation. By foreclosmg the posmblhty of
Jud1c1al appointment of interim U.S, Attomeys unacceptable to the Admmlstratlon last
 year's amendment to Sectlo_n 546 eliminated a procedure that in a minority of cases

created unnecessary problems without any apparent benefit.

The Department’s principal concem with HR 580 is tﬁat it would' be inconsistent

' with separation of powers principles to vest federal courts with the authonty to appomt a .
critical Executive Brarich officer such asa U S Attorney. We are aware of no other |
agency where federal j udges—members of a separate branch of government—appoint on

“an interim basis senior, policymaking staff of an agency. Such a judtcial appdintee would}
‘have authority for htxgatmg the entire federal criminal and civil docket before the very .

- district court to whom he or she was beholden for the appointment. This arrangement, at

“a rmmmum, gives rise to an appearance of potential conﬂict that 'undermir_les the
performance, or perceived perfomlaztce, of both the Executive and Judicial Brinches. A
jtxdge may be inclined to select a U.'S.‘Attorr‘levy who shares the judge;s ideological or
prosecutorial philosophy. Ot a judge may seiect a prosecutor apt to settle cases and enter
piea bargains, so as to preserve judicial resources. Sée Wiener, “Inter-Branch ‘

. Appointments After the Independent Counsel: Court Appointment of United State_s

Attorneys,” 86 Minn. L. Rev. 363, 428 (2001‘) (concluding that court appointment of

interim U.S. Attorneys is unconstitutiorial).
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Prosecutorial authority should be exercised by the Executive Branch in a unified :

‘manner, cons1stent with the application of cmmmal enforcement pohcy under the
Attomey General In no context is accountablhty more nnportaut to our somety than on
thc front lines of law enforcement and the exercise of prosecutonal discretion. United

States Attorneys are; and should be, accountable to the Attorney General.

The Administration has repeatedly demonstrated its comxmtment to having a
Senate-conﬁrmed U.S. Attormey in every federal dlstnct theteby calling into question the
need for H.R. 580. As noted, when a vacancy in the ofﬁce of U.S. Attorney occurs, the
Department typically looks ﬁrst to the First Assistant or another senior manager in the .
; office to serve as an acting or interim US. Attomey Where neither the First Assistant
nor another senior manager is able or w1]lmg to serve as an acting or interim U. S.-

: Attorney, or where their service would not be appropriate under the <:1rcumstances the
Administration has looked to other Department employees to serve temporarily. No
matter which way a U.S. Attorney is tempororﬂy appointed, the Administration has
consistently sought, and will continue to se_ek, to fill tﬁe vacancy—in consultation with

home-State Senators—with a presidentially-nominated and Senate-confirmed nominee.
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- Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: ° . Scott-Finan, .Nancy

Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 1:16 PM N ) ’
To: -Sampson, Kyle; Goodling, Monica; Moschella, William; Elston, Michael (ODAG); Scolinos,
: : Tasia; Roehrkasse, Brian . - : o
Cc: Henderson, Charles V; Clifton, Deborah J; Silas, Adrien
Subject: FW: Hearirig on H.R. 580 :
: _importance: : High
‘Attachments: - USALttys01.doc.pdf

We have provided the cleared statement to the Hill,

From: . Scott-Finan, Nancy . )

Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 1:11 PM -

To: ‘Mincberg, Elliot'; Tamarkin, Eric ‘Johnson, Michone'; Jezierski, Crystal; ‘Jeffries, Stewart'; Flores, Daniel; ‘Tandoli, Matt'
Cc: Hertling, Richard; Tracd, Robert N; Seidel, Rebecca . .

Subject: Hearing on H.R. 580 S :

Importance: High :

All,

Attached is the Department's written statement which has just béen cleared through the interagency clearance process. |
apologize. for the lateness of providing it to everyone. Hard copy will be hand delivered. .

USAttys01.doc.pdf
. (63KB)
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BEFORE THE
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CONCERNIN G
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Testimony

of

William E. Moschella
Prlnclpal Associate Deputy Attorney General
: U.S. Department of Justice

Committee on the Judlclary
United States House of Representatlves

“H R. 580, Restormg Checks and Balances in the N omination Process of U. S
Attorneys”

March 6, 2007

Chairwoman Sanchez, Congressman Cannon, and members of the
Sﬁbcommittee, thank you for the invitation to discuss the importance of the

_ Justice Department’s United States Attorneys.

Although - as previously noted by the Attorney General and the Deputy
Aﬁo@ey General in their testimony ~ the Departrhent of Justice cogtin{les to
believe the Attorney General’s cuﬁént interim appointment authority is gogd
policy, and has concerns about H.R. 580, the "Préserving United States Attorneys

. Indepéndence Act 0f 2007,” the Department looks forward to working with the
Committee in an effort to reach common ground on this important issue. It
should be made clear, hdwever? that despite the specqlaljion, it was never the
‘objective of the Department, when exercising this iﬂterim appointment authority,

to circumvent the Senate confirmation process.
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F»Some background. As the chief federal law-enforcement officers in their dtstn'cts our 93 .

UsS. Attomeys represent the Attorney Gencral and the Department of Justice throughout the
Umted States. U. S Attorneys are not just prosecutors; they are government officials charged
with managmg and unplementmg the policies and priorities of the President and the Attorney
General. The Attorney General has set forth key pnontxes for the Department of Justice, and in -

" each of their districts, U.S. Attomeys lead the Department’s efforts to protect Amenca from

.terronst attacks and ﬁght violent crime, combat ﬂlegal drug trafficking, ensure the integrity of

, govemment and the marketplace, enforce our 1mm1grat1on laws, and prosecute crimes that
| endanger chlldren and farmhes — including child pomography, obSGemty, and human

trafficking.

United States Attorneys serve at the pleasure of the President and report to the Attomey
General in the discharge of their offices. Like any other h1gh -ranking officials in the Executive
-Brauch they may be removed for any reason or no reason. The Department of Justice —
Amcludlng the office of United States Attomey - was.created precisely so that the govemment’
legal business could be effectively managed and carried out through a coherent program under
the supervision of the Attorney General. Unlike judges, who are supposed to act independently
of those who nominate them, U.S. Attotneys are accountable to the Attorney General. And
white U.S. Attcmeys are charged with making prosecutorial decisions, they are also duty bound
to implement and further the Administration’s e.nd Departmerlt’s priorities and poli_cy decisions.”

Prosecutorial authority should be exercised by the Executive Branch in a unified manner,

-2-
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consistent Wlth the application of criminal enforcement pohcy under the Attorney General Inno

context is accountablhty more unportant to our soc1cty than on the front llnes of law
enforcement and the exercise of prosecutorial dlscretlon Thus Umted States Attorneys are, and

_ should be, accountable to the Attomey General.

’I;he Aﬁomey Genefai and the Deputy Attomey General are responsible for evaluaﬁné the
: performaﬁce‘ of the United States Attorneys aﬁd ehsuring that they are leading tﬁeir offices
‘ effectively. In an orgamzatlon as Iarge as the Justice Department, U. S Attorneys are removed or.
askcd or encouraged to resign from txme to time. However, in this Admlmstratlon U S..
Attorneys are never — repeat, never — removed, or asked or exicouraiged_ tp resign, in an effort to-
retaliate against them, or interfere witﬁ, or inappropriately influence a particular i’ﬁve_stigation,

criminal prosecution, or civil case.

Turnover in the position of U;S. Attornéy is not uncommon and should be expected,

. particula:rly aftera U;S. Attorney’s fpur-Year term has expired. When a presidential election

results in a change of administration, every U.S. Attorney is askc:d to resign so the new President.
can nominate a successor for pdu.ﬁrmation by the Senate. Moreover, U.S. Attorneys do not .
ne;:essarily stay in place even during an administration. For example, more than 40 percent of :

the U.S. Attorneys appointed at the beginning of the Bush Administration had left office by the _. )
end of 2006. Of the U.S. Attorneys whose resignations have been the subject o.f recent ., -

discussion, each one had served longer than four years prior to being asked to resign.
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Given the reality of turnover amorig the U.S. Attorneys, our system depends on the

.dedica'ted service of the career investigators and prosecufors. While anew Administration may
articulate new pnorl’ues or emphasme different types of cases, the effect of a U.S. Attorney on an
ongomg investigation or prosecution is, in fact, n:ummal asit should be. The career civil

" servants whg prosecute federgil criminal cases are dedicate_d professionals and an effective U.S.

Attorney relies on the professional Jjudgment of those prosecutors.

The leadershipi of an ofﬁc§: is more than the direction of individual cases. It iﬁvoli_)es-

managing limited resources, maintaining high moréle in the office, and building reiafiénshi'ps '

: with fedcral; state and local law énforcéﬁlent pa@ers. Whena U.S. Attorney submits his or her

: reéignation, the Department must first determine who WiH serve temporarily és‘ interim U.S.

" Attomey. The Department has an obliéaﬁon to ensure that someone is able to caﬁy out the

| important ﬁmctlon of leading a U. S Attorney’s Office dunng the period when there i isnota
pre51dent1ally-app01nted Senate-confirmed U.S. Attorney. Often, the Department looks to the
Flrst Assistant U S. Attorney or another seriior manager in the ofﬁce to serve as U. S Attorney on
an interim ba31s When neither the First Assistant nor another senior manager in the office-is
able or willing to serve as interim U.S. Attomey, or when the appointment of elther would not be
appropriate in the circumstances, the Department has looked to other, qualified Departmcnt
employees. For example, in the District of Minnesota and the Northern District of Towa, the

. First Assistant took federal retlrement at or near the same time that the U S. Attorney resxgned

which requlred the Department to select another official to Iead the ofﬁce
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 Asstated ébove, the Administration has not sought to avoid the cnnﬁrmaiionpmcessH

the Senate by appomtmg an interim U.S., Attorney and then refusing to move forward — m

* consultation wmh home-state Senators — on the selection, nomination, confirmation and
appomtment of anew U.S. Attorney. In every case where a vacancy occurs, the Administration
is comrmtted to having a Senate- conﬁrmed U S. Attomey And the Administration’s actions

bear this out In each i instance, the Presxdent either has made a nommauon or the
Administration is working to.select candldates for nomination. The appomtment of U.S.
Attomeys by and with the advice and consent of the Senate is unquestionably the appomtment
method preferred by the Senate, and it is unquostionably the appointment method preferred by

the Admin;'stration.

Smce January 20, 2001, 124 new U. S Attorneys have been nommated by the Pre51dent |
and conﬁrmed by the Senate.. On March 9 2006, the Congress amended the Attorney General's .
authority to appoint interim U. S. Attomeys and 18 vacancies have occurred since that date.
Thns amendment has not changed our commitment to.nominating candidates for Senate
confirmation. In fact, the Administration has nominated a total of 16 individuals for Senate
consideration since the appomtment authority was amended, with 12 of those normnees having .
been conﬁrmed to date. Of the 18 vacancies that have occurred since the time that the law was
-amended, the Administration has nominated candidates to fill six of these positions, has
interviewed candidates for nomination for eight more positions, and is waiting to receive oames

to set up interviews for the remaining positions — all in consultation with home-state Senators.
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However, while that nomination process continues, the Department must have a leader in

n plaee to carry out the hnpo;tent Work of these offices an_d to ehsure contihuity of operations. To .
ensure an effective and smeoth transition during U.S. Attorney vacancies, the office of the U.s.
Attorney must be filled on an interim basis, €ither under the 'Vacancy Reform Act (“VRA”), 5
US.C. § 3345(a)(1) when the First Assistant is selected to léad the office, or the Attorney
'lGeneral's appointment authonty in28 U, S C. § 546 when another Department employee is .

_ chosen. Ensuring that the interim and permanent appomfment process: runs smoothly and
effectlvely will be the focus of the Department’s efforts to reach common ground with the |

' Congress on this issue.

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify, and I look forward to answering the

" Committee’s questions.
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Elston, Michael (ODAG) -

_From: ‘Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) [MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov]
ent: : day, March 06,2007 9734 PM )

To: . =~ : McNulty, Pauty - :

Cc: | . Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Subject: - wbMml - )

" Impottance: High

Today's Congressicnal events make clear that 1 am, indeed, among the "USA - 8", ]

Shortly after his opening statement; but before citing the perceived deficiencies of my former colleagues, Wil Moschella
stated that the two United States Attorneys not present were dismissed because of management problems. Apparently
Kevin Ryan (whom I do not know) and { share the: same reason for termination. o

Michael Elston told me on more than one occasion, that the rationale for dismissal was on a-continuum of sorts and that |

n the de minimus end after Dan Bogden. It is abundantly clear that this regrettable situation could have been better

managed if.the reasons for the dismissals were initially communicated to the affected United States Attorneys.

86, I now need to know what is the management problem to which Mr. Moschella referred?

Margaret
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. SEN. SCHUMER: (Sounds gavel.) Good morning and welcome to the first
‘hearing of our Administrative Law and Court Subcommittee. And we --

STAFF: (Off mike.) SEN. SCHUMER: -- oh. And this is a full-
committee hearing, I am just informed -- power has already gone to his head.
(Laughter.) Reminds you of that old Woody Allen movie, remember? Anyway, we'll
save that for another time. ; N

Anyway, I will give an 6pening statement, then Senator Specter will,
and any others who wish to give opening statements are welcome to do so.

. Well, we are holding this hearing because many members of this
committee, including Chairman Leahy -- who had hoped to be here, but is speaking
on the floor at this time -- have become increasingly concerned about the
administration of justice and the rule of law in this country. I have observed .
with inereasing alarm how politicized the Department of Justice has become. I
have watched with growing worry as the department has increasingly based hiring

-on political affiliation, ignored the recommendations of career attorneys,
focused on the promotion of political agendas and failed to retain legions of
talented career attorneys.

I have sat on this comnittee for eight years, and before that on the
House Judiciary Committee for 16. During those combined 24 years of oversight
over the Department of Justice, through seven presidential terms -- including
three Republican presidents -- I have never seen the department more politicized
and pushed further away from its mission as an apolitical enforcer of the rule
of law. And now it appears even the hiring and firing of our top. federal
prosecutors has become infused and corrupted with political rather than prudent
considerations -- or at least there is a very strong appearance that this is so.

For six years there has been little or no ovefsight of the Department
of Justice on matters like these. Those days are now over. There are many
questions surrounding the firing of a slew of U.s. attorneys. I am committed to
getting to the bottom of those questions. If we do not get the documentary
information that we seek, I will consider moving to subpoena that material,
including performance evaluations and other documents. If we do not get
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forthright answers to our questions, I will consider moving.to subpoena one or

more oL the rired U.S. attorneys so that the record is clear.

So with that in mind, let me turn to the issue at the center of today's
-hearing. oOnée appointed, U.S. attorneys, perhaps more than any other public
' sérvant, must be above politics and beyond reproach. They must be seen to
.enforce the rule of law without fear or favor. They have enormous discretionary
power. And any doubt as to their impartiality and their duty to enforce the
rule of law puts seeds of poison in our democracy.

When politiecs unduly infects the appointment and removal of U.S.
attorneys, what happens? Cases suffer. Confidence plummets. And corruption has
‘a chance to take root. And what has happened here over the last seven weeks is
.nothing. short of breathtaking. Less than two months ago, seven or more U.S.
-attorneys reportedly received an unwelcome Christmas present. As The Washington
‘Post reports, those top federal prosecutors were called and terminated on the
same day. The Attorney General and others have sought to deflect criticisi by -
suggesting that these officials all had it coming because of poor performance;
that U.S. attorneys are routinely removed from office; and that this was only
business as usual.

But what happened héere doesn't sound like.an orderly and natural
replacement of underperforming prosecutors; it sounds more like a purge. What
Happernied here doesn't sound like business ‘as usual; it appears more reminiscent
of a different sort of Saturday night massacre.

Here's what -the record shows: - Several U.S. attorneys were apparently
fired with no real explanation; several were seemingly removed merely to make
way for political up-and-comers; one was fired in the midst of a successful and
continuing investigation of lawmakers; another was replaced with a pure partisan
of limited prosecutorial experience, without Senate confirmation; and all of
this, coin¢identally, followed a legal change -- slipped into the Patriot Act in
the dead of night -- which for first time in our history gave the Attorney
General the power to make indefinite interim appointments and to bypass the
Senate altogether. .

We have heard from prominent attorneys -- including many Republicans --
who confirm that these actions are unprecedented, unnerving, and unnecessary.
Let me quote a few. The former San Diego U.S. Attorney, Peter Nunez, who served
under Reagan said, quéte, "This is like nothing I've ever seen before in 35-plus
years," unquote. He went on to say that while the president has the authority
to fire a U.S. attorney for any reason, it is, quote, "extremely rare unless
there is an allegation of misconduct."

Another former U.S. attorney and head of the National Association of
Former United States Attorheys said members of his group were in "shock" over
the purge, which, quote, "goes against all tradition."

The Attorney- General, f£or his part, has flatly denied that politics has
played any part in the firings. At a Judiciary Committee hearing last month, he
testified that, quote, "I would never, ever make a change in a U.S. attorney ’
position for political reasons.™" Unquote.

And yet, the recent purge of top federal prosecutors reeks of politics.
An honest look at the record reveals that something is rotten in Denmark: In
Nevada, where U.S. Attorney Daniel Bogden was reportedly fired, a Republican
source told the press that, quote, "the decision to remove U.S. attorneys was
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part of a plan to give somebody else that experience" -- this is a quote -- "to

-build iip the back bench of Republicans by giving them high-profile jobs,"
unguote. That was in The Las Vegas Review-Journal on.January 18th. In New
Mexico, where U.S. Attorney David Iglesias was reportedly fired, he has publicly
stated that when he asked why he was asked to.resign, he, quote, "wasn't given .
‘any answers," unquote. . a .

In San Diego, where U.S. Attorney Carol Lam was reportedly fired, the
top-ranking FBI official in San Diego, said, quote, "I guarantee politics is
involved, " unquote. And the former U.S. attorney under President Reagan said,
duote, "It really is outrageous," unquoté. Ms. Lam, of course, was in the midst
of a sweeping public corruption investigation of "Duke" - Cunningham and his co-
conspirators, and her office has outstanding subpoenas to three House
Comimittees.  Was her firing a political retaliation? There's no way to know,
but thé Department of Justice should go out of its way to avoid even the ’
appearance of impropriety. That is not too much to ask, and as I've said, the
appearance hereé -- given all the circumstances -- is plain awful.

Finally, in Arkansas, where U.S. Attorney Bud Cummins was forced out,
theére is not a scintilla of evidence that he ‘had ‘any blemish on his record. In
‘fact, he was well-respected on both sides of the aisle, and was in the middle of
a nunber of important investigatioms. His sin -- occupying a high-profile
position that was being eyed by an ambitious acolyte of Karl Rove, who had
ninimal féderal prosecution experience, but was highly skilled at opposition
research and partisan attacks for the Republican National Committee.

Among other things, I Yook forward to hearing the Deputy Attorney
General explain to us this morning how and why a well-performing prosecutor in
Arkansas was axed in favor of such a partisan warrior. What strings were pulled?
What influence was brought to bear?

_ " In June of 2006, when Karl Rove was himself still being investigated by
a U.S. attornhey, was he brazenly leading the charge to oust a sitting U.S.
attorney and install his own former aide? We don't know, but maybe we can find
out.

Now, I ask, is this really how we should be replacing U.S. Attorneys in
the middle of a presidential term? No one doubts the president has the.legal-
authority to do it, but can this build confidence in the Justice Department? Can
this build confidence in the administration of justice?

I yield to my colleague from Pennsylvania.

SEN. ARLEN SPECTER (R-PA): I concur with Senator Schumer that the
‘prosecuting attorney is obligated to function in a nonpolitical way. The
prosecuting attorney is a quasi-judicial official. He's part judge and part
advocate. And have the power of investigation and indictment and prosecution in
the criminal courts is.a tremendous power. And I know it very well, because I
was the district attorney-of a big tough city for eight years and an assistant
‘district attorney for four years before that. And the phrase in Philadelphia,
perhaps generally, was that the district attorney had the keys to the jail in
his pocket.

Well, if he had the keys to the jail, that's a lot of power.

But let us focus on the facts as opposed to generalizations. And I and
my colleagues on the Republican side of the aisle will cooperate in finding the
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facts if the facts are present, but let's be cautious about the generalizations
whi € i € chairman's opening remarks.

If the U.S. attorney was fired in retaliation for what was done on the
brosecution of former Congressman Cunningham, that's wrong. And that's wrong
even though the president has the power to terminate U.S. attorneys. But the
‘U.S. attorneys can't function if they're going to be afraid of the consequences
of a vigorous prosecution. ' '

When Senator Schumer says that the provision was inserted into the
Patriot Act in the dead of night, he's wrong. That provision was in the
donferencevrepprt, which was available for examination for some three months.

The first I found out about the change in the Patriot Act occurred.a
‘few weeks ago when Senator Feinstein approached me on the floor and made a

'_ cCommerit about two U.S. attorneys who were replaced under the authority of the

¢hange 'in. law in the Patriot Ac¢t which altered the way U.S. attorneys are
. replaced. ’

Prior to the Patriot Act, U.S. attorneys were replaced by the attorney
general for 120 days, and then appointments by the court or the first assistant
succeeded to the position of U.S. attorney. And the Patriot Act gave broader
powers to the attorney general to appoint replacement U.S. attorneys.

I then contacted my very able chief counsel, Michael O'Neill, to find
out exactly what had happened. and Mr. O'Neill advised me that the requested
change had come from the Department of Justice, that it had been handled by
Brett Tolman, who is now .the U.S. attorney for Utah, and that the change had
been requested by the Department of Justice because there had been difficulty
with the replacement of a U.S. attorney in South Dakota, where the court made a
replacement which was not in accordance with the statute; hadn't been a prior -
federal employee and did not qualify. ’

And there was also concern because, in a number of districts, the
¢courts had questioned the propriety of their appointing power because of
'éeparation of powers. And as Mr. Tolman explained it to Mr. O'Neill, those
were the reasons, and the provision was added to the Patriot Act, and as I say,
was open for public inspection for more than three months while the conference
report was not acted on.

If you'll recall, Senator Schumer came to thée floor on December 16th
and said he had been disposed to vote for the Patriot Act, but had changed his
mind when The New York Times disclosed the secret wiretap program, electronic "
surveillance. May the record show that Senator Schumer is nodding in the
affirmative. There's something we can agree on. In fact, we agree sometimes in
addition.

Well,. the conference report wasn't acted on for months, and at that
time, this provision was subject to review. Now, I read in the newspaper that
the chairman of the Judiciary Committee, Arlen Specter, “slipped it in." And I
-take umbrage and offense to that. T did not slip it in and I do not slip things
in. That is not my practice. If there is some item which I have any idea is
controversial, I tell everybody about it. That's what I do. So I found it
‘0ffensive to have the report of my slipping it in. That's how it got into the
bill.
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Now, I've talked about the matter with' Senator Feinstein, and I do

think, will be,éble to agree on the executive session on Thursday.
) And let's be candid about it. The atmosphere in Washington, D.C. is
orie of high-level suspicion. There's a lot of suspicion about the executive
‘Branch because of what's happened with signing statements, because of what's

happened with the surveillance program.

And there is no doubt, because it has been explicitly articulated --

. maybe "articulate" is a bad word these days -- expressly stated by ranking
Department of Justice officials that they want to increase -- exécutive branch

officials -- they want to increase executive power.

. So we live in an atmosphere of high-level suspicion. And I want to see
this inquiry pursued on the items that Senator Schumer has mentioned. I don't
want to see a hearing and then go on to other business. I want to see it
pursued in each ore of these cases and see what actually went on, because there
are very serious accusations that are made. And if they're true, there ought to
be very, very substantial action taken in our oversight function. But if
they're false, then the accused ought to be exonerated.

But the purpose of the hearing, which can be accomplished, I think, in
short’ order, is to change the Patriot Act so.that this item is not possible for
abuse. And in that, I concur with Senator Feinstein and Senator Leahy and
Senator Sc¢humer. And a pursuit of political use of the department is something
that I also will cooperate in eliminating if; in fact, it is true.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. SEN. SCHUMER: Thank you, Senator Specter.

Senator Feingold.

SEN. RUSSELL FEINGOLD (D-WI): Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding the
hearing.

. I have to chair a subcommittee, the Africa Subcommittee of the Foreign .
Relations Committee, at 10:00. And I was hoping to give an opening statement.

" But I'm very pleased not only with your statement but, frankly, with Senator
Specter's statement, Bbecause it sounds to me liké there's going to be a
bipartisan effort to fix this.

I also have strong feelings about what was done here, but it sounds
like thére's a genuine desire to resolve this in that spirit. And in light of
the fact I have to go anyway, Mr. Chairman, I'm just going to ask that my
statement be put in the record.

SEN. SCHUMER: Without objection.

Senator Hatch.

SEN. ORRIN HATCH (R-UT): Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate it.

I've appreciated both of your statements, too. I don't agree fully
with either statement. First of all, the U.S. attorneys serve at the pleasure

of the president, whoever the president may be, whether it's a Democrat or a
Republican. You know, the Department of Justice has repeatedly and adamantly
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' stated that U.S. attorneys are never removed or encouraged to resign in an

Or interfere with investigations.

: Now, this comes from a department whose mission is to enforceé the law
and defend the interests of the United States. Now, are we supposed to believe
and trust their efforts when it comes to outstanding criminal casés and
investigations which have made our country a safer place but then claim that
they are lying when they tell us about theéir commitment to appoint proper U.S.
attorneys? I persomally believe that type of insinuation.is completely
reckless.

. Now, if, in fact, there has been untoward political effort here, then
“I'd want to find it out just like Senators Schumer and Specter have indicated
Here. As has been said many times, U.S. attorneys serve at thé pleasure of the
- president. I remember when Presideént Clinton became president, he dismissed 93
U.S: attormeys, if I recall it correctly, in one day. That was very upsetting
to some of my colleagues on our side. But he had a right to do it.

. And frankly, I don't think anybody should have said he did .it purely
" £6f political reasons, although I don't think Yyou can ever remove all politics
from actions that the president takes. The president can remove them for any
reason or no reason whatsoever. That's the law, and it's very clear.

U.S8. Code says that, quote, "Each United States attorney is subject to
reémoval by the president," unquote. It doesn't say that the president has to
dgive explahations, it doesn't say that the president has to get permission from -
Congress.and it doésn't say that the president needs to grant media interviews
.giving full analysis of his personal decisions. Perhaps critics should seek to
aménd the federal court and require these types of restrictions on the
.president's authority, but I would be against that.

Finally, I want to point out that the legislation that we are talking
about applies to whatever political party is in office. The law does not say
that George Bush is the only president who can remove U.S. attorneys. And the
law does not say that attorneys general appointed by a Republican president have
interim appointment authority. The statutes apply to whoever is in office, no
matter what political party. ’

_Now, I remember, with regard to interim U.S. attorneys, that an interim
appointed during the Clinton administration served for eight years in Puerto
Rico and was not removed. Now, you know, I, for one, do not want judges
appointing U.S. attorneys before whom they have to appear. That's why we have
the execitive branch of government. :

Now, .I would be interested if there is any evidence that
impropriety has occurred or.that politics has caused the removal of otherwise
decent, -honorable people. And I'm talking about pure politics, because let's
face it, whoever's president certainly is going to be -- at least so far --
either a Democrat or Republican in these later years of our republic. So, these
are important issues that are being raised here. But as I understand, we're
talking about seven to nine U.S. attorneys, some of whom -- we'll just have to
see what people have to say about it, but I'm going to be very interested in the
comments of everybody here today. It should be a very, very interesting
hearing. . :

But I would caution people to reserve your judgment. If there is an
untoward impropriety here, my gosh, we should come down very hard against it.
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"But this is not abnormal for presidents to remove U.S. attorneys and replace

then mS, even With that system
- as it has worked, because sometimes we in the Judiciary Committee don't move the
confirmations like we should as well, either. So, there are lots of things that
you could find faults with, but let's be very, very careful before we start
. dumping this in the hands of federal judges, most of whom I really admire,
‘régardless of their prior political beliefs.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
SEN. SCHUMER: Thank you, Senator Hatch.
And Seénator Cardin had to leave.

- : Senator Whitehouse, do you want to make an opening statement? No?
Okay, thank you for coming,

And our first witness -- and T know he has a tight schedule, I
dppréciate him being here at this time -- is our hardworking friend from
Arkansas, Senator Mark Pryor. c

Senator Pryor.
SEN. MARK PRYOR (D-AR): Mr. Chairman, thank you.
And I also want to thank all the members of the committee.

I've come here today to talk about events that occurred regarding the
appointment of the interim U.S. attorney for the eastern district of Arkansas
which T believe -- SEN. SCHUMER: Senator, if you could just pull the mike a
little closer. :

SEN. PRYOR: -- raised serious concerns over the administration's
ericroachment on the Senate's constitutional responsibilities. I'm not only
concerned about this matter as a member of the Senate but as a former practicing
lawyer in Arkansas and former attorney general in my state. T know the Arkansas
bar well, and all appointments that impact the legal and judicial arena in
Arkansas are €specially important to me. .

Moreover, due to the events of the past Congress, I've given much
thought as to what my role as a senator should be regarding executive and
judicial nominations. I believe the confirmation process is as serious as
anything that we do in government. You know my record. I've supported almost
all of the president's nominations. oOn occasion, I have felt they were unfairly
criticized for political purposes, for when I consider a nominee, I use a three-
part test. First, is the nominee qualified?; second, does the nominee possess
the proper temperament?; third, will the nominee be fair and impartial -- in
‘other words, can they check their political views at the door?

Executive branch nominees are different from judicial nominees in many
ways, but U.S. attorneys should be held to a high standard of independence. In
Other words, theéy're not inferior officers as defined by the U.S. Supreme Court.
All U.S. attorneys must pursue justice. Wherever a case takes them, they should
protect our republic by seeing that justice is done. Politics has no place in
the pursuit of justice. This was my motivation in helping form the Gang of 14.
I've tried very hard to be objective in my dealings with the president's
nominations, including his nominations to the U.S. Supreme Court. I want the
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pfbdess to work in the best traditions of the Senate and in the best traditions

of our democracy. Im fact, I've been accused on more than one occasion of being
‘Sverly fdir to the president's nominations.

It is with this backgtound that I state my belief that recent events
relating to U.S. attorney dismissals and replacements are unacceptable and
should be uhacceptable to all of us.

Now, I would like to speak spec1f1ca11y about the facts that occurred
regarding the U.S. attorney replacement for the Eastern District of Arkansas.

In the summer of 2006, my office was told by reliable sources in the Arkansas
legal and political community that then-U.S. Attorney Bud Cummins was resigning
and’ the White House would nominate Mr. Tim Griffin as his replacement. I asgked
the reasons for Mr. Cummins' leaving and was informed that he was doing so to
pursue other opportunities.

My office was later told by the administration that he was leaving on
his own initiative and that Mr. Tim Griffin would be nominated. I did rot know
Mt. Griffin, but I spoke to him by - telephone in August,2006 about his
potential nomination. I told him that I know many lawyers in the state but I
knew very little about his legal background. In other words, I did not know if
he was qualified or if Le had the right temperament or if he could be fair and

- impartial. I informed him that I would have trouble supporting him until the
‘Judiciary Committée had reviewed these issues. I told him if he were to be
riominated that I would evaluate my concerns in light of the committee process.

It should be noted that around this time, it we becoming clear that Mr.
‘Cummins was being forced out, contrary to what my office had been told by the
administration.

Sometime after the interview with Mr. Griffin, I learned that there
were newspaper accounts regarding his work on behalf of the Republlcan National
cOmmlttee about efforts that had been categorized as "caging African- American
votes. This arises from allegations that Mr. Griffin and others in the’ RNC
were targetlng African-Americans in Florida for voter challenges during the 2004

- presidential campaign.

I specifically addressed this issue to Mr. Griffin in a subsequent
meeting. When I questioned him about this, he provided an account that was very
different from the allegatlon However, I informed him that due to the
seriousness of the issue, this is precisely the reason why the nomination and
confirmation process is in place. I told him I would not be comfortable until
this committee had thoroughly examined his background. Given my concerns over
this potential nominee, I as well as: others protested, and Mr. Cummins was
allowed to stay until the end of the year.

Rumors began to circulate in October of 2006 that the White House was
going to make a recess appointment which, of course, I found troubling. This
rumor was persistent in the Arkansas legal and political community. I called
the Whiteé House on December 13, 2006 to express my concerns about a recess
appointment and spoke to then-White House Counsel Harriet Myers. She told me
that she would get back to. me on this matter. I also called Attorney General
GonzZales expressing my reservations. And he informed me that he would get back
to me as well.

Despite expressing my concerns about a recess appointment to the White
House and to the attorney general, two days later, on December 15, 2006, Ms.
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Myers~inﬁorméd me that Mr. Griffin was their choice. Also on that same day,

irmed that he was going to appoint Mr. Griffin as an
interim U.S. attorney. Subsequently, my office inquired about the legal
- authority for the appointment and was informed it was pursuant to the amended
‘statute in the Patriot Act.

Before I say any more, I need to tell the committee that I respect and
like General Gonzales. I supported his confirmation to be attorney general. I
have always found him ‘to be a straight shooter. And even though I disagree with
. him on this decision, it has not changed my view of him. I suspect he is only
:doing what he has been told to do. On December 20, 2006, Mr. Cummins' tenure
as U.S. attorney was over. On that same day, Mr. Griffin was appointed interim
.U.S. attorney for the eastern distriét of Arkansas. The timing was controlled
by the administration. On January 11, 2007, I wrote a letter to General
"Gonzales outlining my objections with regard to this appointment. First, I made
¢lear my concern as to how Mr. Cummins was summarily dismissed. Second, I
outlined my amazement as to the excuse given as the reason for the interim
appointment which was due to the first assistant being on maternity leave.
Third, I objected to the circumventing of the Senate confirmation process.

The attorney general's office responded on January 31, 2007 denying any
discrimination or wrongdoing. I will address these issues now. :

. As more light was shed on the situation in Arkansas, it became clear
that Bud Cummins was asked to resign without cause so that the White House could
reward the Arkansas post to Mr. Griffin. Mr. Cummins confirmed this on January
13, 2007 in an article in the Arkansas Democrat-Gazette newspaper wherein he
-said he had been asked to step down so the White House could appoint another
person. By all accounts, Mr. Cummins' performance has been fair, balanced,
professional and just. Lawyers on both sides of the political sépectrum have
nothing but positive things to say about Mr. Cummins' performance. During his
tenure, he established a highly successful anti-terrorism advisory council that
brought together law enforcement at all levels for terrorism training. 1In the
area of drug prosecutions, he continued at historic levels of quality, complex
and significant Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Force drug prosecutions.
He also increased federal firearm prosecutions, pursued public corruption and
cybér crime investigations and led to lengthy prison sentences for those
convicted.

In addition, I understand that his performance evaluations were always
eéxceptional. On this last point, I would ask the committee to .try to gather the
sérvice evaluations of Mr. Cummins and the other dismissed U.S. attorneys to
determiné how they were perceived by the Justice Department as having performed
their jobs.

The reason I'm rec¢iting Mr. Cummins® performance record is that it
stands in stark contrast to General Gonzales' testimony before this committee
when he stated, quote, "Some people should view it as a sign of good management.
What we do is make an evaluation about the performance of individuals, and I
have a responsibility to the people in your districts that we have the best
" possible people in these positions.

And that's the reason why changes sometimes have to be made.
Although there are a number of reasons why changes get made and why people leave
on their own, I think I would never, ever make a change in the United States
attorney position for political reasons, or if it would in any way jeopardize an
ongoing serious investigation. I just would not do it." End quote.
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The attorney general then refused to say why Mr. Cummins was told to

leave. However, it is my understanding that in other cases around the country,
. Justice Department officials have disclosed their reasoning for firing other
-U.S. attorneys. The failure to acknowledge that Bud Cummins was told to leave
for a purely political reason is a great disservice to someone who has been
loyal to the administration and who performed his work admirably. I have
discussed in detail the events surrounding Mr. Cummins' dismissal. Now I would
like to discuss the very troubling pretense for Mr. Griffin's appointment to
interim U.S. attorney over the first assistant U.S. attorney in the Little Rock
office. .

) ! The Justice Department advised me that normally, the first assistant
U.s. attorney is selected for the acting appointment while the White House sends
their nominee through the Senate confirmation Process. This is based on 5
U.s.c., Section 3345A1. However, in this case the Justice Department confirmed
that the first assistant was passed over because she was on maternity leave.
This was the reason given to my chief of staff, as well as comments by the
Justice Department spokesman Brian Rorchast (sp).-- and I'm not sure if I
pronounced that name correctly -- wherein he was quoted in newspapers as saying,
"Wheh the U.S. attorney resigns, there is a need for someone to fill that
position." He noted that often the first assistant U.s. attorney in the
affected district will serve as the acting U.S. attorney until the formal
nomination process begins for the replacement. "But in this case, the first
assistant is on maternity leave." That's what he said.

In addition, this reason was given to me specifically by a Justice
Department liaison at a meeting in my office. In my letter to the attorney
géneral, I stated that while this may or may not be actionable in a public
employment’ setting, it clearly would be in a private employment setting. Of all
the agencies in the federal government, the Justice Department should not hold
this view of Pregnancy and motherhood in the workplace. I call this a pretense
because it has become clear that Mr. Griffin was always the choice to replace
Mr. Cummins. Before I close, let me address the circumvention of the Senate's
confirmation process. General Gonzales has said that it is his intention to
tiominate all U.S. attorneys, and -- but that does not water in Arkansas. For
seven months now, the administration has known of the departure of Mr. Cummins.
Remember, they created his departure. It has now been 49 days since Bud Cummins
was ousted without cause. If they were serious about the confirmation process,"
I cannot believe that it would have taken so long to nominate someone.

Now to be fair, in my most recent telephone call with General Gonzales,
he asked me whether I would support Tim Griffin as my nominee for this position.
I thought long and hard about this, and the answer is I cannot. If nominated, I
would do everything I could to make sure he has an opportunity to tell his side

not know all the facts. That is why we have a process in the Senate. I know I
would never consider him as my nominee because I just know too many other
lawyers who are more qualified, more experienced and more respected by the
Arkansas bar. I will advise General Gonzales about this decision shortly.

Regardless of the situation in Arkansas, I am convinced that this
should not happen again. I'm also convinced that the administration and maybe
future administrations will try to bypass the Senate unless we change this law.
I do not say this lightly. Already a challenge has been made to 'the appointment
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of Mr. Griffin in Arkansas as violating the U.S. Constitution because it
bypassed i i i i i ed in

this case -- I believe it's a capital murder case, I don't know all the
- situation there -- but I have not reviewed the pleadings there, I have read a
Tecent article in the Arkansas Democratic Gazette that concerns me.

. It is reported that, quote, "because United States attorneys are
inferior officers, the appointment clause of the Constitution expressly permits
"-Congress to vest their appointments in the Attorney General and does not require

the advice and consent of the Senate before they're appointed," end gquote.

Please do not miss this point. The Justice Department has now pleaded in court
_ that U.S. attorneys, as a matter of constitutional law, are not subject to the

advice and consent of the United States Senate. g )

After a thorough review by this committee, I hope that you will reach
the same conclusion I have, which is this. No administration should be able. to
appoint U.S. attormeys without proper checks and balances. This is larger than
party affiliation or any single appointment. Thig touches our solemn
responsibility as senators. I hope this committee will address it by voting for
- 8.214, which I join in offering along with Senators Feinstein and Leahy. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

SEN. SCHUMER: Thank you very much, Senator Pryor, for your really
dutstanding testimony. And we will pursue many of the things you bring up. I
know that you have a busy schedule, and I would ask the indulgence of the
committee that if we have questions of Senator Pryor, we submit them in writing,
Would that be okay?

SEN. LEAHY: Well, Mr. Chairman, may I just ask one or two guestions?
SEN. SCHUMER: Sure.
SEN. LEAHY: Thank you. (Cross talk.)

Senator Pryor, do you think that Mr. Griffin is not qualified for the
job?

SEN. PRYOR: It's hard for me to say whether he is or isn't because I
just know so little about his background. When I met with him, we talked about
this, and I told him that it was my sincere hope that they nominate him so he
could go through the process here. But it's impossible for me to say whether he
is or isn't because I know so little about him. And just by the way of
background on him, and this is probably more detail than the committee wants, is
that he went to college in Arkansas, and then he went off to Tulane Law School
in Louisiana. And then, more or less, he didn't come back to the state, I think
he did maybe a year of practice in the U.S. attorney's office at some point, but
basically he's -- his professional life has been mostly outside the state. So

he's come back in, and the legal community just doesn't know him.

SEN. LEAHY: Well, fair enough. Do you think it ought to be a matter
for the committee? I think that's the traditional way .

SEN. PRYOR: Certainly.
SEN. LEAHY: Do you think that his having worked for the Republican

National Committee -- RNC -- or that he may be a protege' of Karl Rove is
relevant in any way as to his qualifications?
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SEN. PRYORT To me, it I not relevant. I think we all come to these
‘vdrious positions with different backgrounds, and certainly if someone works for
a politicdl -conmittee or a politician or an administration -- that doesn't
concern me. Some of the activities that he may have been involved in do raise
concerns. However, when I talked to him about that, he offered an explanation,
like I said, that was very different than the press accounts of what he did.
And here again, that takes me back to the process. That's why we have a
process. Let him go through the committee, let you all and your staffs look at
it, let him -- let everybody evaluate that and see what the true facts are.
SEN. LEAHY: Well, fair enough. The activities may bear. His conduct bears on
his qualifications, but just the fact of working for the Republican National
Committee and for Karl Rove is not a dlsquallfler

SEN. PRYOR: No, not in my mind it's not.

SEN. LERHY: Thank you very much for coming in, Senator Pryor. We khow
how busy you are, and you've made a very comprehensive analysis, and 1t's very
helpful to have a senator appear substantlvely --

SEN. PRYOR: Thank you.

SEN. LEAHY: <- so thank you.

SEN. PRYO#: Thank you.

SEN. SCHUMER: Thank you, Senator Pryor. Any further questions?
Thank you so much.

: Okay, our next witness is the honorable Paul J. McNulty. He's the
deputy attorney general of the United States. He has spent almost his entire
career as a public servant, with more than two decades of experience in
government at both the state and federal levels. ‘Just personally, Paul and I
have known each other. When he served in the House, I knew him well. We worked
together on the House Judiciary Committee. He's a man of great 1ntegr1ty I
have a great deal of faith in him and his personality, and who he is and what he
does. From 2001 to 2006, of course, he served as U.S. attorney for the Eastern
District of Virginia.

(The witness is sworn in.)
MR. MCNULTY: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for your kindness.

I appreciate the opportunity to be here this morning and attempt to
clear up the misunderstandings and mlsperceptlons about the recent resignations
‘of some U.S. attorneys, and to testify in strong opposition to S§. 214, a bill
‘which would strip the Attorney General of the authority to make interim
appointments to f£ill vacant U.S. attorney positions.

As you know and as you've said, Mr. Chairman, I had the privilege of
sefving as United States Attorney for four and a half years. It was the best
job I ever had. That's something you hear a lot from former United States
attorneys -- "best job I ever had." In my case, Mr. Chairman, it was even
better than serving as counsel under your leadership with the Subcommittee on
Crime. Now why is it -- being U.S. Attorney -- the best job? Why is it such a
great job? There are a variety of reasons,. but I think it boils down to this.
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The United States attorneys are the president's chief legal representatives in

the 4 federal judicial districts. 1Im wy former district of Eastern Virginia,
Supreme Court Chief Justice John Marshall was the first United States attorney.
‘Being the president's chief legal representative means you are the face of the
Department of Justice in your district. Every police chief Yyou support, every
victim you comfort, every citizen you inspire or encourage, and yes, every
¢riminal who is prosecuted in your name communicates to all of these people
something significant about the priorities and values of both the president and
the Attorrey General. .

] At his inauguration, the president raises his right hand and solemnly
swears to faithfully execute the office of the president of the United States.
He fulfills this promise in no small measure through the men and women he
appoints as United States attorneys. If the president and the attorney
general want to crack down on gun crimes -- if they want to go after child
pornographers and pedophiles as this president and attorney general have ordered

- fedéral prosecutors to do, it's the United States attorneys who have the
privilege of making such priorities a reality. That's why it's the best job a
lawyer can ever have. It's an incredible honor.

And this is why, Mr. Chairman, judges should not appoint United States
dttorneys as S.- 214 proposes. What could be clearer executive branch
tesponsibilities than the attorney general's authority to temporarily appoint,
and the president's opportunity to nominate for Senate confirmation, those who
will execute thé president's duties of office? §. 214 doesn't even allow the
attorney géneral to make any interim appointments, contrary to the law prior to
the most recent amendment. :

The indisputable fact is that United States attorneys serve at the
pleasure of the president. They come and they go for lots of reasons. Of the
United States attorneys in my class at the beginning of this administration,

" more than half are now gome. Turnover is not unusual, and it rarely causes a
problem because even though the job of United States attorney is extremely
important, the greatest assets of any successful United States attorney are the
career men and women who serve as assistant United States attorneys. Victim
witness coordinators, paralegals, legal assistants, and administrative personnel -
-=.their experience and professionalism ensures smooth continuity as the job of
U.S. attorney transitions from one person to another.

Mr. Chairman, I conclude with these three promises to this committee
and the American people on behalf of the attorney general and myself. First, we
have -- we never have and never will seek to remove a United States attorney to
interfere with an ongoing investigation or prosecution or in retaliation for
prosecution. Such as act is contrary to the most basic values of our system of
justice, the proud legacy of the Department of Justice and our integrity as
public servants. : ’

Second, in every single case where a United States attorney position
is vacant, the administration is committed to fulfilling -- to filling that
position with a United States attorney who is confirmed by the Senate. The
attorney general's appointment authority has not and will not be used to
circumvent the confirmation process. All accusations in this regard are contrary
to the clear factual record. The statistics are laid out in my written
statement. And third, through temporary appointments and nominations for
Senate confirmation, the administration will continue to fill U.S. attorney
vacancies with men and women who are well qualified to assume the important
duties of this office. Mr. Chairman, if I thought the concerns you outlined in
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ydur opening statement were true, I would be disturbed too. But these concerns

are not—based on facts. And the selection process we will discuss today I think
will shed a great.deal of light on that. ’

[P ) Finally, I have a lot of respect for you, Mr. Chairman, as you know.
And when I hear you talk about the politicizing of the Department of Justice,

it's like a knife in my heart. The AG and I love the department, and it's an

honor to serve, and we love its mission. And your perspective is completely

contrary to my daily experience, and I would love the opportunity -- not just
today but in the weeks and months ahead -- to dispel you of the opinion that you
hold. :

I appreciate your friendship and courtesy, and I am happy to reépond
to the conmmittee's questions. ’

SEN. SCHUMER: Well, thank you, Depﬁty Attorney General, and very much
appreciate your heartfelt comments.

I can just tell you -- and it's certainly not just me but speaking for
fiyself -- what I have seen happen in the Justice Department is a knife to my
‘Heart as somebody who's followed and overseen the Justice Department for many,
many yéars. And perhaps there are other explanations, but on issue after issue
after issue after issue -- I think Senator Specter alluded to it to some extent
-- the view that executive authority is paramount. To the extent that many of
us feel congressional prerogatives written in law are either ignored or ways are
found around them, I have never seen anything like it. Aand there are many fine
public servants in the Justice Department. I had great respect for your
predecessor, Mr. Comey. I have great respect for you. But you have to judge
the performance of the Justice Department by what it does, not the quality or
how much you like the people in it. And so my comment is not directed at you in
‘particular, but it is directed at a Justice Department that seems to me to be
far more politically harnessed than previous Justice Departments, whether they
be under Démocrat or -- Democratic or Republican administrations.

There are a lot of questions, but I know some of my colleagues -- I
know my colleague from Rhode Island wants to ask questions and has other places
to go so'I'm going to limit the first round to five minutes for each of us, and "
then we'll -- in the second round we'll go to more unlimited time if it's just
reasonable, if that's okay with you, Mr. Chairman, okay? '

First, I just -- you say in your testimony that a United States
attoiney may be removed for any reason or no reason, that's your quote. So
my first question is do you believe that U.S. attorneys can be fired on simply a
whim? Somehow the president (sneeze) or the attorney general -- bless you --
wakes up one morning and says, "I don't like him -- let's fire him." What's the
reason? "I just don't like him." Would that be okay?

MR. MCNULTY: Well, Mr. --
SEN. SCHUMER: Well, let me say, is that legally allowed?
MR. MCNULTY: Well, if we're using just a very narrow question of can

in a legal sense, I think the law is clear that "serve at the pleasure" would
mean that there needs to be no specific basis.

DAG000000893



SEN. SCHUMER: Right. But I think You would ragrée that that would not

AAAL*““‘*Be‘a‘goUd‘idea.
MR. MCNULTY: I would agree.

. SEN. SCHUMER: Okay. Now let me ask you this. You do agréeAthat a
- Uniited States attorney can't be removed for a discriminatory reason -- because
that person is a woman or black or -- do you agree with that?

MR. MCNULTY: Sure. I --
SEN. SCHUMER: So there are some limits here?

MR. MCNULTY: Well, of course, and théere would ceértainly be moral
limits and -- I don't know the law in the area of removal and relates to those
-8pecial categories, but I certainly know that as a -- an appropriate thing to do
=~ would be completely inappropriate.

o SEN. SCHUMER: 'Okay. And you do believe, of course, that a U.S.
‘attorfiey could be removed. for a corrupt reason --

MR. MCNULTY: Right.

SEN. SCHUMER: -- in return for a bribe or a favor? Okay. Now let me
ask you this. Do you think it is good for public confidence and respect of the
Justice Department for the president to exercise his power to remove a U.S.
attorney simply to giveé somebody else a chance at the job? Let's just assume
for the sake of argument that that's the reason. Mr. X, you're doing a very, .
very fine job but we'd prefer -- and you're in the middle of your term -- no one
o6bjects- to what you've done ~- but we prefer that Mr. Y take over. Would that
be a good idea? Would that practice be wise?

MR. MCNULTY: I think that if it was donme on a large scale, it could
raisé substantial issues and concérns. But I don't have the same perhaps alarm
that you might have about whether or not that is a bad practice. If at the end
of the first four-year term -- and of course all of our confirmation
certificates say that we serve for a four-year term -- at the end of that
four-year term, if there was an effort to identify and nominaté new individuals
to step in -- to take on a second term, for example, I'm not so sure that would
be contrary to the best interest of the Department of Justice. It's not
soietliing that's been done -- it's not something that's being contemplated to
do. But the turnover has already been essentially like that. We've already
switched out more than half of the U.S. attorneys that served in the first term,
so change is not something that slows down or debilitates the work of the
Department of Justice.

SEN. SCHUMER: Right. But -- and all of these, these seven that we are
talking about, they had completed their four-year terms, every one of them, but
then had been in some length of holdover period.

MR. MCNULTY: Right.
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SEN. SCHUMER: They weren't all told immediately at the end, or right

before the end of their four yéar—term;, to leave. Is that right?
. MR. MCNULTY: That's correct.

SEN. SCHUMER: Okay. I still have a few minutes left, but I now have
a whole néw round of questioning and I don't want to break it in the middle, so
I'm going to call on Semator Specter for his five minutes.

SEN. SPECTER: (Audio break) -- Chairman.
Mr. McNulty, were Yyou ever-an assistant U.S. attorney?’
MR. MCNULTY: No, I wasn't.

SEN. SPECTER: Well, I was interested in your comment that the best
job you had was U.S. éttorney, and that's probably because you were never an
assistant U.S. attorney -- (laughter) -- because I was an assistant district
attorney, and that's a much better job than district attorney.

MR. MCNULTY: I've heard that from a lot of assistants. That's true.

SEN. SPECTER: The assistants just get to go into court and try cases
and cross-examihe witnesses and talk to juries and have a wmuch higher level of
sport than administrators who are U.s. attorneys or district attorneys.

; Mr. McNulty, what about Carol Lam? I think we ought to get specific
with the accusations that are made. Why was she terminated?

. MR. MCNULTY: Senator, I came here today to .be as forthcoming as I
possibly can, and I will continue to work with the committee to provide
information. But one thing that I do not want to do is, in a public setting, as
the attorney general declined to do, to discuss specific issues regarding
people. I think that it's -- it is unfair to individuals to have a discussion
like that in this setting, in a public way, and I just have to respectfully
decline going into specific reasons about any individual.
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56 SEN. SPECTER: Well, Mr McNulty, I can understand your reluctance to
.'dd" so, but whén we have confirmation hearings, which is the converse of
Ainguiries into termination, we go into very difficult matters. Now, maybe
'somébody who's up for confirmation has more of an expectation of having critieal
‘comments made than somecne who is terminated, and I'm not going to press you as
to a public matter. But I think the committee needs to know why she was
terminated, and if we can both find that out and have sufficient public
assurance that the termlnatlon was ]ustlfled I'm dellghted -- I'm willing to do
‘it that way.

I'm not sure that these attorneys who were terminated wouldn't prefer
to have it in a public setting, but we have the same thing as to Mr. Cummins and
wé have the same thing as to going into the qualifications of the people you've
appointed. But to find out whether or not what Senator Schumer has had to say
is right or wrong, we need to be specific.

o MR. MCNULTY: Can I make two comments on -- first on the question of
‘confirffiation process. If you want to talk about me, and I'm here to have an
opportunlty to respond to everythlng I've ever done, that's one thing. I just
am reluctant to talk about somebody who's not here and has the right to respond.
And I don't -- I just don't want to unfairly prejudice any --

. SEN. SPECTER: But Mr. McNulty, we are talking about you when we ask
the question about why did you fire X or why did you fire Y. We're talking about
what you did.

MR. MCNULTY: And I will have to be --'try to work with the committee
to give them as much information as possible, but I also want to say something
else.

Essentially, we're here to stipulate to the fact that if the committee
is seeking information, our position basically is that -- that there is going to
be a range of reasons and we don't believe that we have an obligation to set
forth a certain standard or reason or a cause when it comes to removal.

SEN. SPECTER: Are you saying that aside from not wanting to have
comments about these individuals in a public setting which, again, I say I'm not
pressing, that the Department of Justice is taking the position that you will
not tell the committee in our over51ght capacity why you terminated these
people?
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any document you might seek from the
Years we do an evaluation of an office.
may or may not see an EAR re

No. No, I'm not saying that. I'm saying something a
at I'm saying is that in searching through
Department, such as an <- every three
Those are called "EARs" reports. You
port what would be of concérn to the leadership of a

a

 department, because that's just one way of measuring someone's performance. And

. much of this is subjective,
that was done two or three v

office.

SEN. SDECTER:

MR. MCNULTY :
SEN. SPECTER:
MR. MCNULTY:

_SEN. SPECTER:

MR. MCNULTY:

‘objective standards necessary in these matters
-départment and thinking through what is best fo
terms of leadership of offices.

SEN. SPECTER:
evaluations.

MR. MCNULTY:

SEN. SPECTER:

and won't be apparent in the form of some report
ears ago by a group of individuals that looked at an

Well, my time is up, but we're going to go beyond
reports. We're going to go to what the reasons were.

Sure.
-- subjective reasons are understandable.

I understand -- (cross talk) --

) I like -- I like to observe that red signal, but you
don't have to. You're the witness. Go ahead.

. No, I just -- the senator opened, the chairman openéd
with a reference to documentation, and T just wanted to make it clear that there
teally may or may not be documentation as you think of it, because there aren't

when it comes to managing the

r the future of the department in
In some places we may have some information
that you can read; in others, we'll have to just explain our thinking.

Well, we can understand oral testimony and subjective

Thank you, Senator.

We don't function solely on documents.
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SEN. SCHUMER: Especially those of us who've been assistant district

attorneys:

B SEN. SPECTER: That's the staﬁdard, Mr. McNulty. So your
- qualifications are being challenged here. You haven't been an .assistant U.s.
attorney. (Laughter.) : :

SEN. SCHUMER: The senator from Rhode Island.
SEN. SHELDON WHITEHOUSE. (D-RI): Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. McéNulty, welcome. You're clearly a very wonderful and impressive
man. But it strikes me that your suggestion that there is a clear factual
record about what happened and that this was just turnover are both just plain
wrong. :

I start on the clear factual record part with the suggestion
that has beén made to The Washington Post, that the attorney general also made
to us, and I'm quoting from the Post article on Sunday: "Each of the recently
-disnissed prosecutors had performance problems," which does not jibe with the
statement of Mr. Cummins from Arkansas that he was told there was nothing wrong
with his performance, but that officials in Washington wanted to give the job to
another GOP loyalist. So right from the very get-go we start with something
that is clearly not a clear factual record of what took place; in fact, there's’
-- on the very basic gueéstion of what the motivation was for these, we're
gétting two very distinct and irreconcilable stories.

MR. MCNULTY: Senator --

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: And I don't think that, if it's true, that &s The
Washington Post reported, six of the prosecutors received calls notifying them
of their firings on a single day. The suggestion that this is just ordinary
turnover doesn't seem to pass the last test, really. Could you respond to those
two observations?

MR. MCNULTY: Yes, sir. Thank you.

Senator, first of all, with regard to Arkansas and what happened there
and any other efforts to seek the resignation of U.S. attorneys, these have been
lumped together, but they really ought not to be. And we'll talk about the
Arkansas situation, as Senator Pryor has laid it out.
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And the fact is that there was a change made there that was not
connhectéd to, as was said, the performance of the incumbent, but more related to
the opportunity to provide a fresh start with a new person in that position.

With regard to the other positions, however --

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: But why would you need a fresh start if the first
berson was doing a perfectly good job? '

. MR. MCNULTY: Well, again, in the discretion of the department,
individuals in the position of U.S. attorneys serve at the pleasure of the
president. And because turnover -- and that's the only way of going to your
second question T was. referring to turnover -- because turnover is a common
-thing is U.S. attorneys offices --

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: I know. I turned over myself as a U.S. attorney.

MR. MCNULTY: -- bringing in someone does hot create a disruption that
is going to be hazardéus to the office. and it does, again, provide some
benefits. g ’

In the case of Arkansas, which this is really what we're talking about,
the individual who was brought in had a significant prosecution experience -- he
actually had more experience than Mr. Cummins did when he started the job -- and
50 there was every reason to believe that he could be a good interim until hisg
nomination or someone else's nomination for that position went forward and there
was a confirmed person in the job.

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: Mr. McNulty, what value does it bring to the U.S.
dttorneys office in Arkansas to have the incoming U.S. attorney have served as
an aide to Karl Rove and to have served on the Republican National Committee?

MR. MCNULTY: With all --

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: Do you find anything useful there to be an U.S.
attorney?

MR. MCNULTY: Well, I don't know. all I know is that a lot of U.S.
‘attorneys have political backgrounds. Mr. Cummins ran for Congress as a
Republican candidate. Mr. Cummins served in the Bush- Cheney campaign. I
don't know if those experiences were useful for him to be a successful U.S.
attorney, because he was.

I think a lot of U.s. attorneys bring political experience to the job.
It might help them in some intangible way. But in the case of Mr. Griffin, he
actually was in that district for a period of time serving as an assistant
United States attorney, started their gun enforcement program, did many cases as
a JAG prosecutor, went to Iraq, served his country there and came back. So
there are a lot of things about him that make him a credible and well-qualified
person to be a U.S. attorney.

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: Having run public corruption cases, and having

firsthand experience of how difficult it is to get people to be willing to
testify and come forward, it is not an easy thing to do. You put your career,
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you put your relations, everything on the lineé to come in and be a witness. If

publican political corruption, do.you
‘think it would have any affec¢t on their willingness to come forward to have the
new U.S. attorney be somebody who assisted Karl Rove and worked for the
Republican National Committee? Do you think it would give any reasonable
 hesitation or cause for concern on their part that maybe they should keep this

one to themselves until the air cleared?

MR. MCNULTY: Well, again, U.S. attorneys over a period of long history
have had political backgrounds, and yet they've still been successful in doing
public corruption cases. T think it says a lot about what U.S8. attorneys do
‘when they get into office.

) Ohe thing,. Senator, as you know as well as I do, public corruption
cases are handled by career agents and career assistant United States attorneys.
U.S. dttorneys play an important role, but there is a team that's involved in
these cases. And that's a nice check on one person's opportunity to perhaps do
‘Bomiething tlat might not be in the best interest of the case. ’
= SO my eéxperience is that the political backgrounds of people create
unpredictable Situations. We've had plenty of Republicans prosecute Republicans
in this administration, and we've had Democrats prosecute Democrats. Because
once you put that hat on to be the chief prosecutor in the district, it
transforms the way you look at the world. It certainly --

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: We hope.
MR. MCNULTY: -- yes.
SEN. SCHUMER: Senator --

SEN. WHITEHOUSE: Mr. Chairman, is it clear that we will be receiving
the EARs evaluations for these individuals? ’

a0 SEN. SCHUMER: We will get them one way or another, yes. SEN.
WHITEHOUSE: Thank you.

SEN. SCHUMER: Senator Hatch.
} SEN. HATCH: Well, first of all, Mr. McNulty, thanks for your
| téstimdny. I also concur with the chairman that you're a great guy and you've
served this country very, very well in a variety of positions --

MR. MCNULTY: Thank you, Senator.

. SEN. HATCH: -- and we all have great respect for you, having served up
her¢ in the Congress.

Are these really called "firings" down at the Departﬁent of Justice?
MR. MCNULTY: No.
SEN. HATCH: Were the people removed?

MR. MCNULTY: The terminology that's been assigned'to these -- firings,
purges and so forth -- it's, I think, unfair.
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Certainly the effort was made to encourage and --

5 SEN. HATCH: well, basically, my point is, they're not being fired.
‘You're replacing them with other people who may have the opportunity as well.

MR. MCNULTY: Correct. And Senator, one other thing I wanted to say to
‘Senator Whitehouse -- .

. SEN. HATCH: And that's been done by both -~ by Democrats and
Republican administrations, right?

MR. MCNULTY: Absolutely.

SEN. HATCH: Is this the only administration that has replaced close to
.50 percent of the U.s. attorneys in its six Years in office?

MR. MCNULTY: I haven't done an analysis of the --
SEN. HATCH: But othérs have as well, hdven't they?

MR. MCNULTY: Well, it'g a routine thing to see U.S. attorneys come and
go, as I said. And -- : :

) SEN. HATCH: Well, T pointed out at the beginning of this that
. Preésident Clinton came in and requested the resignation of all 93 U.s.
-attorneys. Are You aware of that? MR. MCNULTY: Yes, I am. I was, in fact --
. SEN. HATCH: I didn't find any fault with that. That was his right.
MR. MCNULTY: Right,

) SEN. HATCH: Because they serve at the pleasure of the-preéident,
right? :

MR. MCNULTY: Right.

SEN. HATCH: Well, does the President always -- or doesg Ehe department
dlways have to have a reason for replacing a U.S. attorney?

MR. MCNULTY: They don't have to have cause. I think in responding to
Senator Schumer's question earlier --

SEN. HATCH: They don't even have to have a reason. If they want to
replace them, they have a right to do so. 1Is that right or is that wrong?

MR. MCNULTY: They do not have to have one, no.

SEN. HATCH: Well, that's my point. In other words, to try and imply
that there's something wrong. here because certain U.s. attorneys have been
replaced is wrong, unless you can show that there's been some real impropriety.
If there's real impropriety, I'd be the first to want to correct it.

Let me just ask you this: the primary reason given for last year's
aimendment of 28 USC 546 was the recurring -- happened to be from the recurring
problems that resulted from the 120-day limitation on attorney general
appointments. Now, can you explain some of these pPrograms and address the
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" concerns of the district courts that recognize the conflict in appointing an

interim U.8 attorney?

MR. MCNULTY: Senator, just prior to that change being made -- as
Senator Specter set forth in his opening statement -- we had a serious situation
arise in South Dakota. And that situation illustrates what can happen when you
have two authorities seeking to appoint a U.S. attorney. 'In that case in South
Dakota, the Public Defenders Officer actually challenged an indictment brought
by the interim U.s. attorney, claiming that he didn't have the authority to
indict someone because the judge there had appointed someone else to be the U.S.
attorney at about the same time. ‘ ’

The individual that the judge appointed was somebody outside the
Department of Justice, hadn't gone through a background check. .We couldn't even
communicate with that individual on classified information until a background
check would have been-done. And so it was'a rather serious problem that we
facéd and lasted for a month or more. There have been other problems like-that
over the history of the department where someone comes in, perhaps, and has
access to public corruption information who's completely outside of the
Department of Justice -- :

SEN. HATCH: Would you be willing to make a list of these types of
problems? -

MR. MCNULTY: Well, we've been asked to do that in the questions that
were submitted for the record -- ’

SEN. HATCH: Okay. I figured that. So if you'll get that list to us
50 that we understand that these are not simple matters. And that, you know, in
your testimony you mentioned with great emphasis that the administration has at
no time sought to avoid the Senate confirmation process by appointing an interim
United States attorney, and then refuse to move forward in consultation with
home-state senators on the selection, nomination and confirmation of a new
United States attorney.

Can you explain the role of the home-state senator in this process,  and
confirm that it has been done for the vacancies that have arisen since this law
was amended?

MR. MCNULTY: Thank you, Senator.

. We've had 15 nominations made since the law was amended.  All 15 of
those nominations could have been held back if we wanted to abuse this authority
and just go ahead and put interims in. We've had 13 vacancies. All told, there
have been about 23 situations where a nomination is necessary to go forward.
Fifteen nominations have gone forward, and the eight where they haven't, we're
currently in the process of consulting with the home-state senators to send
somecne here.

And one thing, Senator, I have to say -- because Senator Whitehouse .
teferred to it -- in the case of individuals who were called and asked to
tesign, not one situation have we had an interim yet appointed who is -- falls
into some category of a Washington person or an insider or something. The -- in

the cases where an interim has been appointed in those most recent situations,
they've both been. career persons from the office who are the interims, and we
are working with the home-state senators to identify the nominee who will be
sent to this committee for confirmation.
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SEN. HATCH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SEN. SCHUMER: Senator Feinstein.

_SEN. DIANNE FEINSTEIN {D-CA): Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for holding these hearings.

: Mr. McNulty, I believe it was in the 2006 reauthorization of the’
Batriot Act when this amendment was slipped into the law, too. And it was
slipped into the law in'a way that I do not believe anyone on this committee
knéw that it was in the law. At least to my knowledge, no one hag come forward
and said, "Yes, we discussed this. I knew it was in the law." No Republican,
no Democrat. I'd like. to ask this question. Did you or any Justice staff make
a series of phone calls in December to at least six United States attorneys
‘telling them they were to resign in January?

' MR. MCNULTY: I think I can say yes to that because I don't want to be
-- talk about specific numbers. But phone calls were made in December asking
u.s. attorneys to resign. That's correct. . :

SEN. FEINSTEIN: And how many U.S. attorneys were asked to resign?

MR. MCNULTY: Because of the privacy of individuals, I'll say less than
- 10.

SEN. FEINSTEIN: Okay, less than 10. and who were they?

MR. MCNULTY: Senator, I would, following the Attorney General's
responseé to this question at his committee, in a public setting, I don't want to
-mention the names of individuals -- not all names have necessarily been stated,
or if they have, they've not been confirmed by the department of Justice. And
information like that can be provided to the committee in a private setting.
But' in the public setting, I wish to not mention specific names.

) SEN. FEINSTEIN: And in a private session, you would be willing to give
us the names of the people that were called in December?

MR. MCNULTY: Yes.
SEN. FEINSTEIN: Thank you very much.

Mr. Chairman, I think just by way of -- my own view is that the Patriot
Act should not have been amended to change, and I know Senator Specter felt -- I
* know Senator Specter feels that we should simply return the language to the way
it was prior to the reéauthorization in 2006. And T am agreeable to this. So I
think we have found a solution that, in essence, would give the United States
attorney an opportunity to make a truly temporary appointment for a limited
period of time, after which point if there -- no nominee has come up for
confirmation or been confirmed, it would go to a judge. And I believe that --
we'll mark that up tomorrow and hopefully that would settle the matter.

In my heart of hearts, Mr. McNulty, I do believe -- I could not prove
in a court of law -- but I do believe, based on what I was -- heard, is there
was an effort made to essentially put in interim U.S. attorneys to give, as one
person has said, bright young people of our party to put them in a position
where they might be able to shine. That, in itself, I don't have an objection
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to; I think you're entitled to do that. But I think to use the U.S. attorney
is—dg i i o do, an at's why I think we need to

lput the law back the way it is.
Let meé just ask just one -- D
MR. MCNULTY: Senator, may I respond real briefly?
SEN. FEINSTEIN: Sure, sure.

MR. MCNULTY: &and I respect your position on that. But I don't.want it
-~ to -just want to make it clear that that premise has to be locked at in light
of ‘the process we go through to select the new U.S. attorneys because if that
" wete the case, that we were doing this just to give a sort of a group that had
_been pre-identified or something an opportunity to serve, it would hot square
with the process that exists in virtually every state in one way or another to
. work with the home- state senators to come up with the list of names of
individuals. : :

In California, for example -- you know well because you've led the
way -- in which the system we've set up to identify qualified people, and that's
been a bipartisan process. It's worked very well. It's -- we respect that

. process. We will follow that process for vacancies that occur in California.
So there won't be any way -- any effort to try to force certain individuals into
these positions since we go through a pre-established nomination,

identification and then confirmation process.
SEN. FEINSTEIN: I appreciate that.

Could I ask a question? There -- one last question? There are
currently 13 vacancies, and this number does not include the redent additional
seven vacancies like the ones in my state that have developed. Now there are
only two nomineés pending before the United States Senate at this time. When do
you intend to have the other nominees sent to us?

MR. MCNULTY: I think we're higher than two out of the current
vdcancies that you know of. Well --

SEN. FEINSTEIN: No.
MR. MCNULTY: Okay, I will -- I'll defer to your numbers on it.
MR. : (Off mike.)

What's that? (Off mike.) Two is right, sorry. We will make every
reffort possible to identify nominees to submit for your consideration here in
the committee. Sometimes the process takes a little longer because there is
something going on in this home state for a selection process. We move quickly
when we receive names to have interviews. So we don't -- the process doesn't
get delayed there. But it is a complicated process to develop a final list in
consultation and get them up here. But we're committed to doing that as quickly
as possible for every vacancy we have.

SEN. SCHUMER: Thank you.

Senator Specter wanted to say a brief word before Senator Feinstein
left, and then we'll go to Senator Sessions.
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